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SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
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COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,

V.

"9'a

: LIBERTY FINANCIAL TRADING CORP., INC.,
LIBERTY REAL ASSETS INVESTMENT CORPORATION,

TED ROMEOQO, RANDY BURSTEIN, NADER YAZDANI, and
LESLIE WEINER,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF,
AND FOR CIVIL MONETARY PENALTIES UNDER
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT, AS AMENDED, 7U.S.C. §§ 1 ET SEQ.
L
SUMMARY
1. Since at least early 2002, Liberty Financial Trading Corp., Inc. (“Liberty
Financial’f), and from approximately june or July 2004, Liberty Real Assets Investment
Corporation (“Liberty Real Assets”), operating as a common enterprise with Liberty Financial
(together, the “Liberty Common Enterprise”), Ted Romeo, Randy Burstein, Nader Yazdani, and
Leslie Weiner (collect'iv.ely, “defendaﬁts”) have been fraudulently soliciting customers to open
and rﬁaintain commodity trading accounts through the Liberty Common Enterprise to trade
commodity options contracts (“commddity options”) by knowingly misrepresenting and failing

~ to disclose material facts concerning, among other things, (1) the likelihood that a customer




would realize large profits from commodity options trading; (2) the risk involved in trading
commodity options; (3) the excéssively poor perfbrmance record of Liberty F inlancial customérs;
and (4) the actual performance record of customers” accounts.

| 2. By mvaking such material misrepresentatioﬁs and omissions, defendants have
engagéd, are engaging, or are about to engage in acts and practices that violate the anti-fraud
provisions of Section 4¢(b) of the Commodity Exchange Act, as amended (“the Act™), 7 U.S.C. §
6¢(b) (2002), and Corﬁmission Regulation 33.10(a) and (¢), 17 C.F.R. § 33.10(21) and (c) (2004).

3. Accofdingly, pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, plaintiff
Commodity Futures Trading Commissibn (“Commission”) brings this action to enjoin
defendants’ unlawful acts and practices and to compel their compliance with the Act and
Commission Regulations. In addition, the Commission seeks civil monetary penalties,
restitution to customers for losses proximately caused by defendants’ fraud, ‘disgorgement of
defendants’ ill-gotten gains, and such other relief as this Court may deem necessary or
appropriate.

4. Unless restrained and e’nj oined by this Court, defendants are likely to continue to
engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Coﬁplaint and similar acts’and practices, as moré
fully described below.

11
JURISDICTION AND VENUE | |

5. The Commodity Exchénge Act, 7U.S.C. § 1 et seq. (2002) (the “Act”) establishes

a comprehensive system for regulating the purchase and sale of commodity futures and options

contracts. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 6¢ and 6d of the Act,

7U.S.C. § 13a-1 and § 13a-2 (2002).




6. Section 6¢ of the Act provides that whenever it shall appéar to the Comrriodity
Futures Trading Commission that any person has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in
any act or practice constituting a violation of-any prdvision of t};‘e Act or any rule, regulation, or
order promulgated thereunder, the Commission may bring an action against such person to
enjoin such practice or td enforce compliance with the Act. |

7. Vénue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6¢(e) 0f the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§ 13a-1(e) (2002), in that Defendants transact business in this District, and the acts and practices -
iﬁ violation of the Act have occurred, are occuﬁng, or are about to occur, within this Digtrict,
among other places.

II1.
THE PARTIES

8. Plaintiff Commeodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent federal
regulatory agency that is chérged with the admiﬁistration and enforcemént of the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§§ 1 et seq., and the Regulations promulgated thereunder.

9. Defendant Liberty Financial Trading Corp.; Inc.is a Floridé corporation with
its principal place of business at 3500 Gateway Dri\.fe, Suite 100, Pompano Beach, Florida
33069. Liberty Financial has beén registered with the Commission as an Introducing Broker'
since December 28, 2001. |

10.  Defendant Liberty Real Assets Investment Corporation is a Florida corporration

with its principal place of business at 3500 Gateway Drive, Suite 100, Pompano Beach, Florida

! The term “introducing broker” (“IB™) is defined in Section 1a(23) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. 1a(23), and Commission
Regulation 1.3(mm), 17 C.F.R. § 1.3(mm), with certain qualifications, as any person who, for compensation or

- profit, whether directly or indirectly, is engaged in soliciting or in accepting orders for the purchase of sale of any
commodity for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any contract market who does not-accept any money,
securities or property to margin, guarantee, or secure any trades or contracts that result or may result therefrom.




33069. This is the same address froﬁ which Liberty Financial operated.: Liberty Real Assets has
been registered with the Commission as an Introducing Broker since July 22, 2002.

11. | Defendant Ted Romeo, a resident of Pompano ]ééach, Florida, was _registered asa
principal of Liberty Financial from March 23, 2001 through April 1, 2001, and again from
February 13, 2002 through February 3, 2003. He was registered as an Associated Person® of
Liberty F inaﬁcial from March 23, 2001 through Aﬁrii"’i‘,‘“‘%ﬁ‘l, and again from January 17, 2002
through February 3, 2003. He has previously been registered as an AP of Universal Commodity
Corporation, Commonwealth Financial Group Inc., American Financial Trading Corp., and
Federal Trading Corp. _

12. Defendant Randy Burstein, a resident of Miami, Florida, was registered as an AP
of Liberty Financial from January 10, 2003 until July 7, 2003. He was subSequently re- |
~ registered as an AP of Liberty Financial from September 9, 2003 ﬁﬁtil March 26, 2004. He has
- previously been registered as an AP of International Trading Group, Ltd., Capital Commodities,
Inc;, Trinify Financial Group, Inc., Precisilon Futures and Options, Inc., First Sierra Corporatior,
Caningtoh Financial Corp., and Barkley Financial Corp. He is_currently registered as an AP of
Universal Commodity Corporation.

13. | Defendant Nader Yazdani, a resjdent of Boca’_Raton, Florida, was registered as
an AP of Liberty Financial from September 30, 2002 until June 30, 2004. He has been registered

as an AP of Liberty Real Assets since June 21, 2004.

2 The term “associated person” (“AP”) is defined in Commission Regulation 1.3(aa)(1) and (2), 17 CFR. §
1.3(aa)(1) and (2), with certain qualifications, as a natural person associated with any FCM or IB, as a partner,
officer, employee, consultant, or agent (or any person occupying a similar status or performing similar functions), in
any capac1ty that involves: (i) the solicitation or acceptance of customers’ or optlons customers’ orders; or (ii) the
supervision of any person or persons so engaged.




14. Defendant Leslie Weiner, a resident of Pompanq Beach, Florida, was registered
as an AP of Liberty Financial from October 11, 2002 until June 30, 2004. He has been registered
~as an AP of Liberty Real Assets since june 21,2004. He was p}eviously registered as an AP of
Cromwell Financial V‘S}‘ervices, Inc. |

IV. |
FACTS
A, Background

15.  Since at least early 2002, the Liberty Common Enterprise, by and through its APs,
including, but not limited to Romeo, Burstéin, Yazdani, and Weiner, solicited members of the
public to open comﬁodity trading accounts through the Liberty Common Enterprise to trade
commodity options. The conduct described in this complaint was not limited to deféndants
Romeo, Burstein, Yazdani, and Weiner; several other APs of the Liberty Common Enterpise
engaged in similar conduct. Along with allegations of mi}sconduct by defendants, allegations of
misconduct by other Liberty Common Enterprise APs not named as defendants is alleged
throughout the complaint as further bases of liability of the Liberty Common Enterprise.

16.  Intelephone sale’s calls, defendants made fraudulent and materially misleading
sales solicitations by kllowingly: 1) misrepresehting the likelihood that customers will profit
from the purchase of commodity options; (2) misrepresenting the risk of trading commodity
options; (3) failing to disclose, in light of the profit representations they were making, Liberty
Financial’s dismal performance record trading futurés and options for customers; and 4

misrepresenting the actual performance record of customers’ accounts.




B. Misrepresentaﬁons Concerning Profit Potential of Options Trading

17.

The Liberty Common Enterprise, by and through its APs, including, but not

limited to Romeo, Burstein', Yazdani, and Weiner, routinely tells customers that they can earn

large profits from trading in commodity options. For example:

(a) Yazdani guaranteed a customer a profit of $22,000 ona $5,000 investment

in only a few weeks’ time;

| (b)  Burstein solicited a customer by telling him that Liberty was offering

investments that were sure to make him lots of money;

(©) * Yazdani told another customer that a $3,000 investment in heating oil
options would in all likelihood turn into $12,000;

(d)  Weiner told a customer that he could “make a killing” for him;

(e) Romeo solicited a custome‘r’by telling her that, “if the market continued as
it was, [her] money could grow between 300% and 500% within three to six

months.”

Other Liberty Common Enterprise APs made similar statements. For example:

18.

(a) A Liberty Financial AP told a customer that he could achieve a full
recovery of the customer’s previous losses plus additional profit if the customer
invested more money; |

(b) A Liberty Financial AP told a customer he could double her money.

The Liberty Common Enterprise, by and through its APs, including, but not

limited to Romeo and Burstein, deliberately misrepresents the urgency of the investment

opportunity. By using this tactic, defendants give the impression that profits are certain and that




the only variable is how much money can be made depending on how qﬁickly the customer aéts.

For example:

(a) Burstein told a customer that “if [he] did not get on board right now, [he]
would miss the boat and [he] would never have another opportunity like this
again”;

(b) When a customer told Romeo that she needed some time to think about
investing, Romeo téld her tﬁat she needed to invest right away in order to
éapitalize on the market.

19.  The Liberty Common Enterprise, by and through its APs, including, but not
limited to Burstein and Yazdani, commonly uses misleading investment advice »based on well
known public information already factored into the existing market pricing by the commodity
markets to entice customers to trade with the Liberty Common Enterprise. Defendants tell or
imply to customers that certain world events, such as the war in Iraq, will lead to proﬁts.' For
example:

(a) Yazdani told one customer to invest immediately in unleaded gasoline call
options because t_he war in Iraq would mean gasoline supplies would be disrupted;
(b) ~ Burstein told one customer that “[i}t is imperative that you get iﬂto Yen
before the war starts.” When tﬁe customer later wanted to liquidate an option
position, Burstein told him not to because, “we were closing in on Baghdad.”

* Other Liberty Common Enterprise APs made similar statements. For example, a Liberty
Financial AP told a customer to purchase U.S. Treasury Bond pﬁt options because the war in Iraq

would lead to a rise in the markets and a corresponding drop in the value of Treasury Bonds.




C. Misrepresentations and Omissions Concerning the Risk of Options Trading

20.

The Liberty Common Enterprise, by and through its APs, including, but not

limited to Romeo, Burstein, and Yazdani, routinely fails to disclose adequately the risk of loss

inherent in trading commodity options. Their high-pressure sales tactics, misrepresentations, and

omissions convey the false impression that the possibility of losses from investing with the

Liberty Common Enterprise is minimal. For example:

(a) When a customer told Burstein that he did“not feel comfortable with a
particular investment, Burstein told the customer, “Let me worry about
everything. That’s my job.” He also prorhised the customer, “I will watch your
account and not let the thions expire.” Throughout his conversations with this
customer, Burstein said very little about the risks involved in any of the
investments that were being recommended to the customer.

(b)  One customer told Romeo ’that she wasnot a gﬁmbler, that the money she
was thinking of investing was her only nest egg, and that she could not afford to
lose it. Romeo responded by telling her that while nothing is 100% risk-free, he
thought commodities Wére a relatively safe investment. When pressed further
about the risks of this type of investment, Romeo told the customer that there
were risks with every investment and that the customer had already taken risks by
investing previously in mutual funds. Romeo never suggested that the risks
associated vﬁth commodity futures and options were higher thah- those associated
with mutual funds; |

(¢)  Yazdani told a customer not to worry about the investment he would be

making;




Other Liberty Common Enterprise APs made similar statements. For example, a Liberty
Financial AP told a customer that he would recommend only safe investments to her, that he
would keep her money secure, and that he would protect her account;

D. Failuare to Disclose Liberty Financial’s Losmg Performance Record Trading Futures
and Options for its Customers

21.  The Liberty Common Enterprise, by and through its APs, including, but not
limited tp Romeo, Burétein, Yazdani, and Weiner, routinely touted the trading experﬁse of its
APs and the results achieved by its APs for their éuStomers. Defendants used this tactic to
reinforce the impression created by the other tactics described above that trading commodity

‘options through Liberty entailed minimum risk and a maxiinum potential for profit. For

example:
(a) Romeo toldva customer that he had a lot of happy customers and that the
customer would end up being very happy also;
(b) Weiner told a customer that he was an expért trader in gold, that he had
been doing this type of trading for years, and that he could “make a killing” for
the customer;
(c)  Yazdani told a customer that the customer should not worry about the
investment he was recommending because he was an expert in unleaded gasoiine;
(d) Burstein solicited a custbmer by telling the customer that he was an expert
in foreign currency, particularly the J a.pan‘ese Yen;

Other Liberty Common Enterprise APs made similar statements. For example:
(a) A Liberty Financial AP told a customer that if he had invested with

Liberty Financial during the previous year he would have made a lot of money;




(b) A Liberty '_Financial AP solicited a customer by telling the customer that
he was a skilled and experienced broker and by touting Liberty’s skill and
experience as “expert” options and futures trader's..

22.  Despite these claims of expertise on the part of its APs and satisfaction on the part
of its customers, defendants never dis‘close Liberty Financial’s dismal performance record
trading futures and options for its‘ customers. In fact, the overall majority of Liberty Finanéial’s
customers lost money from their investments.

23.  In 2002, 342 out of 356 Liberty Financial customers (96%) lost money on their
futures and options tradiﬁg. Realized customer losses in 2002 totaled $2,972,388.90. The
average customer loss in 2002 was $8,691.20. At the same time that 96% of its customers lost
money, .Liberty Financial’s APs generated" $1,522,238 in commissions.

24.  In 2003, 547 out of 595 Liberty Financial customers (92%) lost money on their
futures and options trading.. Realized customer losses in 2003 totaled $5,303,569.98. The
average customer loss in 2003 was _$8,910.86. At the same time that 92% of its customers lost
money, Liberty Financial’s APs generated $4,131,471 in commiésions.

25.  Despite these mounting Iésses, the Liberty Corrimon Enterprise, by and through
its APs, including, but not limited to Romeo, Burstein, Yazdani, and'Weiner, continued to solicit
new customers by highlighting profit without disclosing the fact that the vast majdrity of Liberty
Financial’s customers lost most, if not all, of their investment.

E. Misrepresentations Concerning the Actual Performance Record of Customers’
Accounts

26.  Many of the Liberty Common Enterprise’s customers had no experiehcé in
trading commodity futures and options. Asa result, they also had little or no ability to analyze

and comprehend the monthly statements they received regarding their accounts; rather, they

10




trusted and relied upon the information provided to them orally _by their account representatives.
The Liberty Common Enterprise, by and through its APs, including% but not limited to, Romeo
and Weiner, deliberately misrepresented to customers the actuai performance record of their
accounts in order to induce them to maintain and continue trading in those accounts. For
example:
(a) A customer told Romeo that she did not understand how to read her
account statement and asked him to explain it to her. Romeo brushed off this -
request, as well as specific questions as to whether the account was making
money, by telling the customer that things were “going just the way we wanted”
or that they were going “in our favor.” Indeed, on one occasion Romeo told this
customer that he knew that she did not really understand what was happening
with her money and he thanked her for trusting him. Throughout this time, the
customer’s account was iosing money,
(b) Weiner called a customer about every other' week, told him his account
was doing well, and encouraged him to invest more money. In fact, this
customer’s account was not making money.
Other Libcrty Common Enterprise APs made similar statements. For example, a Liberty
Financial AP was always very positive in all her conversations with a customer as to how his
account was doing, and led the customer to believe that his account was makiﬂg money. Indeed,
the AP often asked the customer, “How does it feél to be earning money?” When the customer
would ask the AP how much money he was actually making, howéver, the AP would never tell

the customer an exact figure. The customer was, in fact, losing money on his account.

11




F. Liberty’Financial and Liberty Real Assets Operate as a Common Enterprise

27. In approximately June or July 2004, it appears that Liberty F inancial ceased doing
business under the name Liberty Financial and began doing business under the name Liberty
Real Assets Investment Corporation. At that time, the principals of Liberty Financial became the
principals of Liberty Real Assets. In addition, 23 of the 26 registered APs of Liberty Financial
became registered APs of Liberty Real Assets and all the customer accounts of Liberty Financial
were switched to Liberty Real Assets. As of July 20, 2004, Liberty Financial had no registered
APs remaining. | |

28. Liberty Real Assets operates out of the same offices formerly used by Lib.erty
Financial. Its telephonenumber is the same telephone number formerly used by Liberty
Financial. |

29.  Liberty Real Assets operates a website on the World Wide Web with an address
of www.libertyrealassets.com. Liberty Real Assets uses this website to solicit customers to open
trading accounts. This website is almost an exact replica of a website with an address of
www.libertyfinancialtrading. cem that was previously used by Liberty Financial to solicit
customers. The primary difference is that the name Liberty Financial has been replaced by the

name Liberty Real Assets.
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V.

VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT
AND COMMISSION REGULATIONS

COUNT ONE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4¢(b) OF THE ACT
AND SECTION 33.10(a) AND (c) OF THE REGULATIONS:
OPTIONS FRAUD

30.  Plaintiff re-alleges ﬁaragraphs 1 through 29 above and incorporates these
allegations herein by reference. |

31. In or in connection with an offer to enter into, the entry into, the confirmation of, -
the execution of, or the maintenance of commodity options transactions, the Liberty Common
Enterprisé, Romeo, Burstein, Yazdani and Weiner have cheated, defrauded, or deceived or
attempted to cheat, deﬁ‘aud, or deceive, other persons, by making false, deceptive, or'misleadidg
representations of material facts and by failing to disclose matdrial facts necessary to make other
facts they disclosed not .m_isleading, including but not limited to those statements and omissions '
identified in paragraphs 15 through 29, all in violation of Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §
6¢(b), and Regulation.33,10(a) and (c), 17 C.F.R. § 33.10(a) and (c).

32..  Inthe course of their solicitatioﬁ of investors, the Liberty Common Enterprise,
Romeo, Burstein, Yazdani and Weiner have knowingly made material misrepresentations and
omitted material facts necessary to make other representations not misleading, including, but not
limited to the misrepresentations and omissions set forth at paragraphs 15 through 29, in
violation of Section 4c¢(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and Regulation 33.10(a) and (), 17

CFR. § 33.10(a) and (c).

13




33.  The foregciing acts, misrepresentations, omissions and failures of Romeo,
 Burstein, Yazdani, Weiner, and the other Liberty Common Enterprise APs occurred within the
scope of each such person’s employment or office with the Libei‘ty Common Enterprise. The
’Liberty Common Enterprise is therefore liable fqr ’ihese acts plirsuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the
Act, 7U.8.C. § 2(2)(1)(B).

34.  Each fraudulent misrepresentation and omission, including but not limited to
those speciﬁcally allegé'd herein at paragraphs 15 through 29, is alleged as ai séparate and distinct
violation of Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and Regulation 33;10(a) and (c), 17
CFR. § 33.10'(a) and (c). |

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission respectfully
requests that this Court, as authorized by Section 6¢ of the Act, and pursuant to its own equitable
powers, enter: |

(a) an order finding that the defendants violated Section 4¢c(b) of the Act and Sections
33.10(a) and (c) of the Regulations; |

(b).  orders of preliminary and permanent injunction prohibiting ‘ihe defendants from
engaging in conduct violative of Sections 4c¢(b) Qf the Act and Section 33.10(a) and (c¢) of the
Regulations;

(©) an order directing the ‘defendants to disgorge, pursuant to such procedure as tlie
Court may order, all benefits received frdrri the acts or practices which constitute violations of
the Act of Regulations, as described herein, and interesi théreon from the date of such violations;

(d an order directing the defendants to make full restitution, pursuant to 'such’

. procedure as the Court may order, to every customer whose funds were received by them as a
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resﬁlt of acts and practices which constituted violations of the Act and Regulations, as described
herein, and interest thereon from the date of such violations;

(e) an order directing the defendants to pay a civil monetary penalty in the amount of
not more than the higher of $120,000 or triplé the monetary gain to each defendant for each
violation of the Act or Regulations; and |

® such orders and further remedial ancillary relief as the Court may deem
appropriate.

Respectfully Submitted,

Q-

Alan Edelman

Florida Bar #A5500704
aedelman@cfic.gov

Erin Vespe

evespe@cftc.gov

Commodity Futures Trading Commission
1155 21* Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20581

Telephone (202) 418-5000

Facsimile (202) 418-5523

Date: Q /! L’/ a \'f
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